THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 30 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2020-000950

Dr. Agnes SlaymanAppellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of EducationRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Lewis Cromer (#1470)
Shannon M. Polvi (#101837)
1418 Laurel Street, Suite A (29201)
Post Office Box 11675
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: (803) 799-9530
Facsimile: (803) 799-9533
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

Dr. Agnes Slayman (“Dr. Slayman”), the Appellant, appeals the Order of Public Reprimand issued by the South Carolina State Board of Education (“State Board”) on September 10, 2019 sourcing from discipline recommended by the Respondent, the South Carolina Department of Education (“SCDE”).

The Public Order of Reprimand is in violation of constitutional and statutory provisions, made upon unlawful procedure, affected by other error of law, clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, and arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. Dr. Slayman asserts that the State Board committed serious errors of law based upon the following grounds:

- I. The SCDE erred in not dismissing the Complaint when it was filed on October 14, 2015.
- II. The Complaint processing and investigation by the SCDE violated Dr. Slayman’s Due Process rights and State Board Regulations and Procedures.
- III. The Hearing before the State Board of Education violated Dr. Slayman’s Due Process rights and State Board Regulations and Procedures.
- IV. The State Board of Education erred when it failed to consider the recommendations of the Hearing Officer that recommended the dismissal of the Complaint against Dr. Slayman.
- V. The State Board of Education erred in issuing the Public Order of Reprimand.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dr. Slayman is the former Superintendent of Chester County School District. A complaint about Dr. Slayman's educator's certificate was filed on October 14, 2015. The SCDE did nothing until March 28, 2018.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-170, the SCDE notified Dr. Slayman of potential disciplinary action against her teaching certificate and informed her of her right to a hearing via letter dated March 28, 2018. Dr. Slayman timely requested a hearing and such was held over a period of five days on October 3, 2018, October 4, 2018, October 12, 2018, November 1, 2018, and November 2, 2018. Scott Winburn, Deputy General Counsel, represented the SCDE during the pendency of the hearing. Shannon Polvi represented Dr. Slayman during the pendency of the hearing.

Dr. Slayman was accused of unprofessional conduct in the nature of workplace harassment and intimidation of employees. Dr. Slayman requested that no disciplinary action be taken against her certificate in that the allegations are untrue.

On April 19, 2019, the Hearing Officer issued a Report and Recommendation ("R&R") recommending no disciplinary action be taken against Dr. Slayman's certificate. On April 26, 2019, the SCDE submitted written objections to the Hearing Officer's R&R. On May 29, 2019, the Hearing Officer submitted a response to the SCDE's objections to the R&R.

The State Board disregarded the recommendation of the Hearing Officer and issued a Public Reprimand to Dr. Slayman on September 10, 2019. Dr. Slayman is aggrieved by the Order issued by the State Board.

Dr. Slayman exhausted all administrative remedies prior to this appeal. Dr. Slayman timely filed her Notice of Appeal to the Administrative Law Court ("ALC") within thirty days of the State

Board Order. The ALC had jurisdiction over the appeal pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-260, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(B), and S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-600(E). Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 59-25-260, the State Board filed a certified copy of the record with the ALC.

Dr. Slayman and the SCDE submitted briefs to the ALC. No hearing was held before the ALC. The ALC issued a decision on the briefing. On June 3, 2020, the ALC issued an Order affirming the Public Reprimand to Dr. Slayman. Dr. Slayman timely filed her Notice of Appeal to this Court on July 2, 2020.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS¹

Dr. Slayman is a professional educator in South Carolina with about thirty-two years of experience. Prior to the Public Reprimand at issue in this appeal, Dr. Slayman had no prior disciplinary action from the State Board. Dr. Slayman holds a Bachelor's degree, a Master's degree, and a Doctoral degree, all conferred upon her by the University of South Carolina. Dr. Slayman served South Carolina as a special education teacher, a high school assistant principal, a middle school principal, a high school principal, Kershaw County School District Assistant Superintendent for Curriculum and Instruction, and Chester County School District Superintendent.

Dr. Slayman was employed in the Kershaw County School District for over 20 years. She was the first female high school principal in the history of that school district.

Dr. Slayman was hired by the Chester County School District as the Superintendent in January 2012 and she served in that capacity until her resignation on September 24, 2015. (R. p. 1097, line 20 – p. 1098, line 9). Dr. Slayman was also the first female Superintendent in the history

¹ The disciplinary hearing was a weeklong, so this Statement of Facts is merely a summary. Dr. Slayman craves reference to the facts as described in the Hearing Officer's Report and Recommendation and those memorialized in the Hearing Transcripts and exhibits used therein.

of the Chester County School District. Upon information and belief, Dr. Slayman was the first Hispanic Superintendent in the State of South Carolina.

In or around August 2015, Anna Stroud (“Stroud”), then Director of Finance, and Leonard Jeffers Gardner (“Gardner”), then Assistant Superintendent for Operations, called Dr. Rick Hughes (“Dr. Hughes”), a Chester School Board member, to advise him that Dr. Slayman's senior staff members intended to file a grievance against Dr. Slayman. Attorneys for the Board were contacted, and the Board authorized an investigation to be done. (R. p. 1099, line 16 – p. 1158, line 24). At this point, nothing in writing had been submitted by the grievants and the Board was acting on the verbal communication between Stroud, Gardner, and Dr. Hughes.

Betty Bagley (“Bagley”) was hired to conduct the investigation. Bagley was instructed by the Board that her investigation was restricted to interviews with the five senior staff members, as well as Dr. Slayman and Callie McConnell, the Superintendent's administrative assistant. A very short time frame was given for this investigation and Bagley was instructed not to prepare a written report, but to verbally report her findings to the Board. Bagley made written notes of the interviews she conducted, and these later became known as the "Bagley Report". Bagley did not testify at Dr. Slayman's disciplinary hearing; however, the Bagley Report were entered into evidence. (R. pp. 1862-1870).

During Bagley's interview with Dr. Slayman, Bagley asked Dr. Slayman more than once if she would resign. Dr. Slayman told Bagley that she would not. There is no testimony in the record that suggests that Bagley was authorized to request Dr. Slayman's resignation. Dr. Slayman was never again asked to resign.

The grievants met several times together and jointly planned to draft and issue the grievance as a planned group. McConnell, a career employee with the District who has worked

with several Superintendents, testified that she observed the grievants meeting together as a group and that she observed no basis for the allegations against Dr. Slayman.

Bagley delivered an oral report to the Board on September 3, 2015. A written letter was filed with the Board, dated September 8, 2015, addressed to the Board Chair, Denise Lawson, and signed by the five senior staff members: Gardner, Stroud, Dr. Charles King, former Assistant Superintendent for Instruction, Shawn Williams, former Chief Human Resource Officer, and Brooke Clinton, former Public Information Officer. The letter states:

We are formally filing an official grievance due to a hostile work environment, implications of ethical violations, and racial and threatening remarks by Dr. Agnes Slayman, Superintendent of the Chester County School District.

We are requesting a closed door meeting of the Board as a group to present our concerns to the Board of Trustees. We respectfully request that Dr. Slayman not be in attendance during this meeting.

(R. p. 1819).

On September 21, 2015, the five grievants were allowed to express their grievances regarding Dr. Slayman to the Board in executive session. Dr. Slayman was not even told what the allegations were against her, and she was not notified or present at the grievance. Even after the grievants had solely given their side of the story,² the Board, as a body, disbelieved these accusations, seeing for themselves that this was a conspiracy against Dr. Slayman, and Dr. Slayman had the votes to remain in her position as Superintendent. (R. p. 1099, lines 3-15) (R. p. 1181, line 23 – p. 1182, line 13).

² Bagley's investigation excluded the positive feedback she received about Dr. Slayman and the Bagley Report excluded all of the rebuttal information given to her by Dr. Slayman and McConnell. (R. pp. 1862-1870); see also Hearing Testimony of Dr. Slayman and McConnell). The self-evident focus of Bagley's investigation was to get only one side of the story, that being the grievants' side.

Dr. Slayman voluntarily resigned thereafter, without the Board ever taking any action against her. Dr. Slayman resigned because she felt that she would not be able to supervise the grievants in the future or provide direction to the District in that her actions would constantly be questioned. (R. p. 1536, line 14 – p. 1537, line 3). Dr. Slayman believed that the turmoil these events had caused was not beneficial to anyone involved, so she was trying to make the best decision for the District when faced with such horrible circumstances. (R. p. 1459, lines 4-11).

Dr. Slayman and the Board entered into an agreement whereby Dr. Slayman was employed as a consultant until June 30, 2016. The majority of the Board did not believe the claims made against Dr. Slayman and wanted to vote that the claims had “no merit.” (R. p. 1172, line 21). However, the Board was strongly advised by legal counsel that they should vote that the claims were “moot” because Dr. Slayman had resigned. (R. p. 1172, lines 16-24).

By letter dated October 14, 2015, SCDE received notice of Dr. Slayman’s resignation and the allegations of the five employees. The Complaint was sent by the Interim District Superintendent, Dr. V. Keith Callicutt. The Board did not vote on this action and was not aware that Dr. Callicutt had sent the letter to SCDE. Thereafter, SCDE initiated an investigation into this matter which ultimately culminated in the five-day hearing. The five grievants testified at the hearing. A summary of important facts about each of them, as well as the allegations made by each, is found in the Hearing Transcript and the Hearing Officer’s R&R.

The events of this matter were chronicled in news reports and in postings on social media. The "Bagley Report" was leaked to media outlets around South Carolina and in other states. Dr. Slayman and certain Board members were followed and continually harassed by the press and others to the depth that Dr. Slayman and certain Board members feared for their safety.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In an appeal of the final decision of an administrative agency, the standard of appellate review is whether the AL[C]’s findings are supported by substantial evidence.” *Braxton v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, Appellate Case No. 2017-001964, Opinion No. 5737 (Ct. App. July 1, 2020). quoting *Sanders v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 379 S.C. 411, 417, 665 S.E.2d 231, 234 (Ct. App. 2008). “Although [the appellate] court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the AL[C] as to findings of fact, [it] may reverse or modify decisions which are controlled by error of law or are clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole.” *Id.* “In determining whether the AL[C]’s decision was supported by substantial evidence, [the appellate] court need only find, considering the record as a whole, evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the AL[C] reached.” *Id.* “This court’s review of the ALC’s order must be confined to the record provided on appeal.” *Braxton v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, Appellate Case No. 2017-001964, Opinion No. 5737 (Ct. App. July 1, 2020) citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2019). Appellants have the burden to prove convincingly that the agency’s decision is unsupported by the evidence. *Braxton v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, Appellate Case No. 2017-001964, Opinion No. 5737 (Ct. App. July 1, 2020) quoting *Waters v. S.C. Land Res. Conservation Comm’n*, 321 S.C. 219, 226, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917 (1996).

ARGUMENT

I. The SCDE erred in not dismissing the Complaint when it was filed on October 14, 2015.

The Complaint was purportedly filed by Chester County School District on October 14, 2015, yet in actuality it was filed by Dr. Callicutt, the Interim Superintendent who had no personal knowledge of the allegations therein the Complaint that he filed against Dr. Slayman, and it was

filed without the knowledge and approval of the Chester County School Board. No one with personal knowledge of the allegations were the complaining parties to the SCDE.

a. The Complaint by Dr. Callicutt was improper under State Board Regulation 43-58.1.

State Board Regulation 43-58.1 (“R43-58.1”) is the State Board policy for reporting terminations of certain district employees. In relevant part, R43-58.1 states:

A district superintendent, on behalf of the local board of education, shall report to the Chair of the State Board of Education and the State Superintendent of Education, the name and certificate number of any certified educator who is dismissed, resigns, or is otherwise separated from employment with that district **based on allegations of misconduct including, but not limited to, misconduct involving drugs, sexual misconduct, the commission of a crime, immorality, moral turpitude, or dishonesty**, *that is reasonably believed by the district superintendent to constitute grounds for revocation or suspension of the certificate issued to the educator by the State Board.* This report is required notwithstanding any termination agreement to the contrary that the district board of trustees or superintendent may enter into with the educator. The reasons for the educator's termination of employment with the district shall also be provided along with all evidence in the possession of the district relating to the termination.

R43-58.1 (emphasis added). It is vital to analyze the bolded and italicized portions of the regulation because a plain reading analysis is pertinent here.

The principles of statutory construction similarly apply to regulatory construction. “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Boulware*, 422 S.C. 1, 7–8, 809 S.E.2d 223, 226 (2018) quoting *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000); *Michael P. v. Greenville Cty. Dep't of Soc. Servs.*, 385 S.C. 407, 414, 684 S.E.2d 211, 215 (Ct. App. 2009). “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.” *Id.* quoting *Hodges*, 341 S.C. at 85, 533 S.E.2d at 581 (quoting Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutory Construction* §

46.03 at 94 (5th ed. 1992)). “Appellate courts must follow a statute's plain and unambiguous language, and when the language is clear, ‘the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.’” *Id.* Accordingly, the Court should apply the plain meaning of R43-58.1.³

i. The allegations of misconduct are not within the context of those intended by R43-58.1.

Misconduct is not fully defined within R43-58.1, but the clear intent of the drafters was for this reporting regulation to pertain to misconduct that would amount to conduct so egregious that it would result in the suspension or revocation of an educator’s license. Here, Dr. Slayman’s license was not suspended or revoked, only a Public Reprimand was recommended and issued by the SCDE.

The intent to limit mandatory reporting is clear because the regulation states it is intended to apply to misconduct involving drugs, sexual misconduct, the commission of a crime, immorality, moral turpitude, or dishonesty. In a nutshell, the intent of the regulation is to ensure that sexual predators and educators involved in unlawful activities, like stealing money from a school district, do not relocate from one school district to another without there being some record of a pattern of such alarming conduct. No such issues are involved in this case.

ii. The Interim Superintendent could not have a reasonable belief that there were grounds for revocation or suspension of Dr. Slayman’s certificate.

Dr. Slayman voluntarily resigned in good standing as superintendent. (R. p. 1097, line 20 – p. 1098, line 9). After the grievance was filed and heard by the Chester County School Board and after the Bagley Report was discussed on September 8, 2015, the Board unanimously reached

³ The ALC disagrees and found that the SCDE did not err in failing to dismiss Dr. Callicutt’s complaint. (R. pp. 16-19).

a consensus to allow Dr. Slayman to return to work. Thereby, the Board did not act on the Bagley Report and the false allegations about Dr. Slayman memorialized therein were not adopted by the Chester County School District. Furthermore, on September 30, 2015, the Board voted to find the grievance “moot” and the majority of the Board wanted to find “no merit”.

Also, on September 30, 2015, the Chester County School District and Dr. Slayman entered into a binding contract. Thereafter, the District violated that contract. The pertinent part of Term 8 to this issue is “the District will instruct the Board and administrators not to publicly disparage Dr. Slayman...” and Term 10 states, “the parties recognize that the promises and covenants contained herein are made in consideration of the mutually agreed separation of Dr. Slayman’s employment and are in no way an admission of wrongdoing by either party.”

Dr. Slayman was not fired. Dr. Slayman was not found by the Board to have engaged in the conduct alleged in the grievance, and the District contractually agreed to that on September 30, 2015. Furthermore, Dr. Slayman continued employment with Chester County School District as a consultant for the time period of September 24, 2015 through June 20, 2016.

Yet, on October 14, 2015, Dr. Callicutt, the Interim Superintendent with no personal knowledge of what he was complaining about, intentionally acted expressly contradictory to the District’s contractual and factual findings by falsely alleging that Dr. Slayman had engaged in conduct requiring a report per R43-58.1. The filing of the Complaint was a voluntary report intended to harm Dr. Slayman and the Complaint was filed in direct violation of the contractual agreement executed by Dr. Slayman and the District on September 30, 2015.

Dr. Callicutt’s complaint was filed by the District on October 14, 2015, without the knowledge and approval of the Chester County School Board. Even then Board Chair Denise Lawson is quoted in a January 14, 2016 News & Reporter article as stating she was “not aware of

any investigation on Slayman by the state Department of Education”. Maggie James, a Chester County School Board member, testified in Dr. Slayman’s hearing as follows:

Winburn Q: ...What is your understanding of the duties to report allegations of unprofessional conduct to the State Department? I mean, is it your belief that Dr. Keith Callicutt broke a law, violated in some ethics? What is your position at the Keith Callicutt’s report of the allegations?

James A: Being that he was the interim, he was not there firsthand, anything that he would have written would have been, as you, per se, hearsay. So why was he to be believed in sending a letter down here without authorization from the board, and not two members to send that type of letter down here requesting that.

(R. p. 1174, line 14 – p. 1175, line 3). Dr. Callicutt was not employed by the Chester County School District during the time of any of the events that are purportedly the basis of his complaint to the SCDE and he would have no reasonable belief to file the Complaint for matters he knows nothing about and that he did not even discuss with the Board prior to making a complaint about matters to which he had no personal knowledge.

II. The Complaint processing by the SCDE violated Dr. Slayman’s Due Process rights and State Board Regulations and Procedures.

Dr. Slayman’s due process rights guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution prohibit any state from depriving any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law or denying any person equal protection of the law.⁴ Dr. Slayman’s due processes rights were violated by the SCDE. The ALC described the SCDE’s procedural failures as merely “curious.” (R. p. 19). The SCDE’s actions, as described below, are not merely curious, these actions violate Dr. Slayman’s Due Process rights.

⁴ At different points in the ALC’s Order, there is reference to whether issues were preserved for appeal. Prior to the hearing, on August 16, 2018, Dr. Slayman filed a motion to dismiss. Thereby, all of these issues on appeal are preserved.

a. The SCDE engaged in notice and investigation failures and additionally violated R43-58.1.

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