STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Appellate Case No. 2020-000950

RECEIVED

Nov 30 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Dr. Agnes M. Slayman,

Appellant,

v.

The South Carolina Department of Education

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

V. Henry Gunter, Jr.
Deputy General Counsel
South Carolina Department of Education
1429 Senate Street, Suite 1015
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 734-8105

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

administrative law judge an opportunity to review and correct any alleged error. Accordingly, Appellant failed to preserve any issue related to the administrative law judge's ruling for further review by this Court. The South Carolina Administrative Law Court Rules require a motion for rehearing as a prerequisite to filing a notice of appeal from the administrative law judge's decision. See SCALC Rule 40, 2019 Revised Notes ("The 2019 amendments deleted the last sentence of the rule, which provided that a motion for rehearing was not a prerequisite to filing a notice of appeal from the administrative law judge's decision.").³ This revision is consistent with other aspects of South Carolina appellate procedure. See Rule 242(c), SCACR ("A decision of the Court of Appeals is not final for the purpose of review by the Supreme Court until the petition for rehearing or reinstatement has been acted on by the Court of Appeals."); State v. Bailey, 368 S.C. 38, 626 S.E.2d 898 (Ct. App. 2006) (circuit court's appellate error must be called to its attention by petition for rehearing in order to be preserved for further appellate review); Holly Hill Lumber Co. v. McCoy, 210 S.C. 440, 442, 43 S.E.2d 143, 144 (1947) (holding issue not raised in petition for rehearing is the law of the case, and the question attempted to be raised is res judicata). See also Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 393 S.C. 198, 208, 712 S.E.2d 428, 433 (2011) (finding an appellant's failure to file a motion for reconsideration or a motion to alter or amend the judgment rendered an issue first arising from the ALC's final order unpreserved for the supreme court's review).

"[T]he South Carolina Appellate Court Rules are not mere technicalities but provide the parties and this Court with an orderly mechanism through which to guide appeals in this State."

³ Interestingly, the South Carolina Administrative Law Court also revised SCALC Rule 29(D) in 2019, noting, "In accordance with applicable case law on issue preservation, the last sentence of subsection (D) which stated a motion for reconsideration is not a prerequisite to filing a notice of appeal, has been deleted." This shows a broad recognition by the ALC that a motion for rehearing is in fact required to preserve any issue for further review.

Henning v. Kaye, 307 S.C. 436, 437, 415 S.E.2d 794, 794 (1992). Appellant’s failure to comply with the applicable appellate procedures precludes review by this Court.

II. The Administrative Law Court correctly found the SCDE properly accepted the complaint of alleged unprofessional conduct, which warranted further investigation.

Appellant contends that the report of unprofessional conduct made by the Interim Superintendent, Dr. Callicutt, was improperly made. Appellant goes on to argue facts related to a pending lawsuit by alleging that the District violated its contract with Dr. Slayman about the District’s alleged wrongdoing, which is not an issue on appeal and should not be considered.

The report of alleged unprofessional conduct is mandatory. Pursuant to State Board Regulation 43-58.1, “A district superintendent, on behalf of the local board of education, shall report to the Chair of the State Board of Education and the State Superintendent of Education, the name and certificate number of any certified educator who is dismissed, **resigns, or is otherwise separated** from employment with the **district based on allegations of misconduct, including but not limited to**. . . immorality, moral turpitude, or dishonesty. . .” (emphasis added).

Appellant avers of the regulation, while not defining “misconduct”, the intent was to ensure that sexual predators and criminals could not relocate to another school district. Such an extremely narrow reading of the regulation would lead to an absurd result, and would ultimately leave school districts vulnerable and it would render a whole host of unprofessional conduct outside the scope of the State Board’s enforcement. See Wade v. State, 348 S.C. 255, 259, 559 S.E. 2d 843, 845 (2002) (“[A] court must reject a statute’s interpretation leading to absurd results not intended by the Legislature.”) The term “including but not limited” must be given its plain meaning to effectuate the intent of the legislature. The regulation cannot be so narrowly read, as Appellant argues to include only crimes committed and to ward off sexual predators. Ultimately, the SCDE

is charged with the administration of the regulation. While there is no allegation in this case of a crime or sexual impropriety, the SCDE must be afforded deference in its interpretation of the regulation to include acts of hostility as described in the Bagley Report, which was known to Dr. Callicutt at the time of his report of the allegations. The SCDE investigates a wide variety of cases of alleged unprofessional conduct, which range from the willful violation of statutory admissions requirements to sexual misconduct cases. “The construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons.” Dunton v. S.C. Bd. Of Exam’rs In Optometry, 291 S.C. 221, 223, 353 S.E.2d 132, 133 (1987) (citations omitted).

In this case, Dr. Slayman resigned following allegations of unprofessional conduct, i.e. that she threatened her immediate staff and created a hostile work environment. ROA 1862. These allegations are well within the scope of the statute. In fact, Dr. Slayman’s alleged conduct was so egregious and well within contemplation of the regulation, that the District commissioned an independent, seasoned educator with over forty years of experience in South Carolina, with no ties to the community, to investigate these claims against Dr. Slayman. ROA 1862.

Appellant makes repeated assertions regarding what the District Board did and did not do in this case. The SCDE’s process of adjudicating educator certificate matters is wholly independent of how school Districts decide to resolve their local disputes. Thus, Appellant’s arguments about what the District decided is evidence that the State Board should have done the same. Since Appellant also misconstrues facts related to the District Board’s actions, the Respondent is compelled to correct the record.

Appellant contends the Chester County School Board unanimously reached a consensus to allow Dr. Slayman to return to work. This is misleading. The record is clear that the Board decided

to accept Dr. Slayman's resignation by a split 4-3 vote. ROA 1180. Her resignation followed the revelations first disclosed in the Bagley Report, which were followed by the written grievance signed and submitted by her immediate cabinet. ROA 1858. Dr. Slayman was allowed consult for the District as a term contained in the Settlement and Release executed as part of Dr. Slayman's resignation. ROA 1351. It is misleading to describe these events as a unanimous vote to allow Appellant to return to work. To suggest that the Chester County School Board took no action in response to the allegations of unprofessional conduct, does not provide important context for what transpired. Subsequent to and in response to Dr. Slayman's resignation amid allegations of unprofessional conduct, Dr. Callicutt properly reported the matter to the SCDE pursuant to Regulation 43.58.1.

Appellant avers that Dr. Callicutt (a defendant in a pending civil case filed by Dr. Slayman), violated a contract by reporting the matter to the SCDE, when the reporting requirement is mandated by the statute. ROA 1536. In fact, Dr. Callicutt could have jeopardized the District's accreditation and even his own credentials if he decided not to report the allegations of misconduct to the SCDE under these circumstances. Regulation 43-58.1 provides:

A district superintendent, on behalf of the local board of education, shall report to the Chair of State Board of Education and the State Superintendent of Education, the name and certificate number of any certified educator who is dismissed, resigns, or is otherwise separated from employment with that district based on allegations of misconduct including but not limited to, misconduct involving drugs, sexual misconduct, the commission of a crime, immorality, moral turpitude, or dishonesty, that is reasonably believed by the district superintendent to constitute grounds for revocation or suspension of the certificate issued to the educator by the State Board. This report is required notwithstanding any termination agreement to the contrary that the district board of trustees or superintendent may enter into with the educator. The reasons for the educator's termination of employment with the district shall also be provided along with all evidence in the possession of the district relating to the termination.

The intentional failure of a district board of trustees to instruct the district superintendent to report the termination of school employees as required by this regulation shall be considered by the State Department as an accreditation deficiency pursuant to R43-130

and, upon approval of the State Board of Education, all district schools will be placed on an accreditation status of probation.

The intentional failure of a district superintendent to report the termination of employees as required by this regulation shall be considered an act of unprofessional conduct and may be sufficient cause for revocation of such person's education certificate pursuant to Section 59-25-160, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976.

In support of her argument, Appellant provides an excerpt of testimony from Board Member Maggie James, who claimed that since Dr. Callicutt had no firsthand knowledge, he broke the law by reporting the matter to the SCDE⁴. Again, the District Board actions in this case are largely irrelevant, especially when Appellant chose only a select few board members to testify. However, Appellant's attempt to utilize Ms. James' testimony in this way is instructive. On the one hand, Appellant argues that since Dr. Callicutt had no first-hand knowledge, his actions were unlawful. Yet, regarding the merits of this case, the Appellant expected the State Board to believe the testimony of consultants who occasionally worked for the District, over the testimony of the immediate cabinet members who possessed firsthand experiences with Dr. Slayman. Furthermore, Appellant's argument would also suggest that a Superintendent's report of unprofessional conduct pursuant to Regulation 43.58.1 requires the Superintendent to have first-hand knowledge, or participate in the investigation of the claim. Of course, no such requirement exists.

For the foregoing reasons, the report of allegations of unprofessional conduct was proper, and the investigation by the SCDE that followed the report was warranted.

III. The Administrative Law Court correctly found that Appellant's arguments were not preserved for appellate review. Further, the Administrative Law Court properly found the investigative process, notice and pretrial exchange of information ensured Appellant's due process.

⁴ Ms. James is not a current or former SCDE employee and is not qualified to render an opinion on the State Board's Regulation or the SCDE's procedures.

a. The SCDE did not violate Reg. 43-58.1

Appellant argues that she was not timely notified of an investigation by the SCDE. As referenced above, Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Stay Proceedings prior to the hearing in this matter. The Hearing Officer denied the motions. While the time between the reporting letter (October 14, 2015) and the time of the hearing (October 3, 2018) is considerable, the Appellant could not articulate any discernable prejudice created by the delay. To the contrary, Appellant cited her work as a consultant for much of that time period. In its Final Order, the Administrative Law Court explicitly found Appellant cited no authority for the proposition that the delay violated her due process rights. Further, the Administrative Law Court concluded Appellant's argument was not pursued in any detail whatsoever and found it to be abandoned and therefore unpreserved for appellate review. The Administrative Law Court noted there is no indication Dr. Slayman suffered any actual prejudice as a result of the delay. In response to this finding, Appellant makes rambling and vague arguments concerning pre-indictment delay and prejudice that were not made to the Administrative Law Court, which found the arguments raised by Appellant were raised in a conclusory manner and were therefore not preserved for review. According to the law-of-the-case doctrine when issues are either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or when issues are raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court, the party is precluded from relitigating the issues. Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 459, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009); see also Glasscock, Inc. v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691-92 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding an argument raised on appeal in a conclusory fashion without citation to authority was abandoned for appellate purposes and noting "South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review."); West v. Morehead, 396 S.C. 1, 14, 720 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2011) ("Appellants make arguments and cite authorities in their briefs that were

not presented to the trial court. These arguments are not preserved.” “[I]ssues not raised to and ruled on by the AL[C] are not preserved for appellate consideration.” Brown v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 519, 560 S.E. 2d 410, 417 (2002). Appellant failed to raise these arguments in a sufficient manner to the Administrative Law Court and further failed to challenge the Administrative Law Court’s determination of this fact through a motion for rehearing. Because she failed to raise the arguments now raised to this court in her brief at the Administrative Law Court, Appellant’s arguments are not preserved for appellate review. Error preservation concerns aside, the cases cited by Appellant to support her contentions are inapposite to the present case and Appellant’s arguments are thus without merit.

There are no time requirements established by statute or regulation, which relate to the time for bringing a case, or sending notice to a certificate holder that the State Board is prepared to take action against a teaching certificate at the conclusion of the SCDE’s investigation of the matter. While Appellant is claiming delay has violated her due process rights, she omits the fact that she requested a delay of an entire season, for her vacation plans throughout the summer so that the hearing could be scheduled in the fall of the year. ROA 45. Yet, during that same period of time, Appellant found time to file a civil action against many of the witnesses who would be called by the SCDE. ROA 75. Only after that, did Appellant seek a stay of the educator certificate proceedings.

Appellant also argues that a news article violated her due process rights because a local newspaper reported that Dr. Slayman was being investigated by the SCDE. While she claims prejudice by the purported disclosure, Appellant fails to describe any credible way in which her due process rights were violated, i.e. how the purported violation of the regulation impacted her ability to call witnesses or fully defend herself in the hearing of this matter. There is no evidence

in the record that the article impacted witness testimony, and no evidence the article impacted her ability to work. Furthermore, all but one of the witnesses called by the SCDE in its case in chief were the grievants who sought the investigation of Appellant in the first place. It was certainly not news to them that Dr. Slayman was being investigated for her conduct. Thus, Appellant's claim of prejudice and violation of due process is without merit.

- b. The Complaint could not have been dismissed by the SCDE out of hand, as Appellant suggests.

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